# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SID J. WHITE

ILED

F

prig 9

NOV 13 1998

#### CLERK, SUPREME COURT By\_\_\_\_\_\_ Chief Deputy Clerk

RICHARD SECCIA, : Petitioner, : v. : STATE OF FLORIDA, : Respondent. :

~

,

CASE NO. 94,138

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

## INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

MARK E. WALKER ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NO. 0973009 LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE SUITE 401 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

###

## **I. PRELIMINARY STATEMENT**

Following a trial by jury, petitioner was convicted of sexual battery upon a child younger than age 12 and for lewd, lascivious or indecent act upon a child. Petitioner appealed his convictions to the First District Court of Appeal, arguing that the trial court erroneously found that the child-victim was competent to testify. He also challenged the sentencing quidelines scoresheet used to determine his sentence for the lewd-act conviction. The First District affirmed his convictions. As for the sentencing issue, the First District rejected petitioner's claim but certified conflict with Mizell v. State, 23 Fla. L. Weekly D1978 (Fla. 3d DCA Aug. 26, 1998). Petitioner now seeks discretionary review in this Court pursuant to article V, section 3(b)(4) of the Florida Constitution.<sup>1</sup>

<sup>&#</sup>x27; The record consists of four volumes, including two volumes of trial transcript. The two volumes of trial transcript

### **II. STATEMENT OF FACTS**

By information filed October 3, 1995, the State charged petitioner with one count of sexual battery upon a child younger than age 12, by placing his mouth upon the child's penis (Count I), and three counts of handling, fondling or making an assault upon the same child in a lewd, lascivious or indecent manner by touching the child's penis (Counts II-IV). (I-4-5). Count IV of the information was subsequently nol prossed and petitioner was first tried by jury on February 12-13, 1996, on one count of capital sexual battery and two counts of lewd act upon a child.

Before the child-victim testified, the trial court conducted a competency hearing. The record of that hearing reflects the following:

BY THE COURT:

. . . .

Q Do you know what it means to tell - - to have to tell the truth?

A Yes.

Q Do you know you are supposed to tell the truth all the time?

A Yes.

Q Yes?

A Yeah.

have been renumbered as Volumes II and III. The fourth volume is labeled as "Supplemental Volume I," but will be cited herein as Volume IV. References to the record on appeal will be by use of the volume number (in roman numerals) followed by the appropriate page number in parentheses. Q Do you know what it means to lie and not tell the truth?

A Yes.

Q Let me ask you if you don't tell the truth what might happen to you? Do you know?

A No.

Q Do you think you would be in a lot of trouble if you don't tell the truth?

A Yes.

• • • •

•

BY [DEFENSE COUNSEL]:

Q Let me ask you again . . .; Do you know why it's important to tell the truth today?

A No.

. . . .

BY THE COURT:

. . . .

Q You do know, though, that when you are down here that you have to tell us the truth, right? Do you understand that?

A Yes.

Q And do you also understand that if you don't tell the truth you will get in lots of trouble, right?

A Yes.

. . . .

Q And when you talk to us today you are going to tell the truth; Is that right?

A Yes.

<u>Seccia v. State</u>, 689 So. 2d 354, 355-56 (Fla. 1st DCA 1997)

(hereinafter "Seccia I"). The trial court ruled that the childvictim was competent to testify.

The jury found petitioner guilty as charged on all three counts. (I-24-26). The trial court sentenced petitioner to life on count I, 58 months on Counts II and III to run concurrently with each other as well as the sentence imposed on Count I. (I-29-36). With respect to Counts II and III, the applicable scoresheet reflects that 18 victim injury points were added for sexual contact. (I-37).

Petitioner appealed, arguing that (1) the trial court erred in allowing the alleged victim to testify because the child was not competent to testify, and (2) the evidence adduced at trial was legally insufficient to prove two separate lewd acts. The First District held that "[t]he evidence, viewed in a light most favorable to the state, established only one lewd, lascivious or indecent act[,]" and therefore reversed "the second lewd-act conviction, and remand[ed] with directions that the trial court enter a judgment of acquittal as to that charge." <u>Seccia I</u>, 689 So. 2d at 357. The First District also reversed and remanded for a new trial on the remaining charges "[b]ecause the trial court abused its discretion when it found that the alleged child victim was competent to testify without first conducting an adequate competency examination." <u>Id.</u> at 354.

Petitioner was retried on one count of capital sexual battery and one count of lewd act upon a child on July 7-8, 1997. Prior to taking the child-victim's testimony at the second trial,

- 4 -

the trial court conducted another hearing to determine whether the child-victim was competent to testify. The record of that hearing reflects the following:

[BY THE STATE]:

. . . .

.

Q Okay. Now, do you know the difference between a truth and a lie?

A Yes.

Q Is it a good thing or a bad thing to tell a lie?

A A bad thing.

. . . .

Q Okay. Now, what about if you tell a lie in the courtroom, is that good or bad?

A Bad.

Q And how bad is it to tell a lie in the courtroom?

A Real bad.

Q And are you supposed to tell the truth in a courtroom?

A Yes.

. . . .

[BY DEFENSE COUNSEL]:

. . . .

Q Now, Samuel, what happens if you tell a lie in the courtroom?

A Maybe the person that you're talking about will get out of jail.

Q Would get out of jail?

- 5 -

A Yes.

Q Would anything happen to you if you told a lie in the courtroom?

A I don't know.

Q You don't know?

A No.

. . . .

[BY THE STATE]:

. . . .

Q Now, if you told a lie here in the courtroom today would that be good or bad?

A Bad.

Q Would you get in trouble?

A Yes.

[BY THE COURT]:

. . . .

THE COURT: So if you were to tell me that dinosaurs are still alive would that be the truth or a lie?

WITNESS: A lie.

THE COURT: And you wouldn't say that in court, would you?

WITNESS: No.

THE COURT: And why do you think it's wrong to tell a lie?

WITNESS: I won't tell a lie.

THE COURT: You wouldn't tell a lie, right?

WITNESS: No.

THE COURT: But why do you think it's wrong

to tell a lie?

WITNESS: Because something bad could happen.

THE COURT: And do you understand that something bad could happen to you if you tell a lie?

WITNESS: Yes.

THE COURT: And you know that your mom and dad can punish you when you do wrong at home, right?

WITNESS: Yes.

THE COURT: Who would punish you if you did wrong in the courtroom?

WITNESS: The judge.

THE COURT: Is there anybody here named Judge?

WITNESS: No.

THE COURT: Well, who is the Judge?

WITNESS: You.

THE COURT: I'm the judge?

WITNESS: Yes.

THE COURT: Do you like my red robe?

WITNESS: Red robe?

THE COURT: What color is my robe?

WITNESS: Black.

THE COURT: That's right. And do you understand that you will be punished by the Judge if you tell a lie in court?

WITNESS: Yes.

(II-30-41). The trial court again ruled that the child-victim

was competent to testify. (II-44-45).

The jury found petitioner guilty as charged on both counts. (I-91-92; III-223-24). The trial court sentenced petitioner to life with a minimum mandatory of 25 years on Count I and to six years on Count II, the sentences to run concurrently. (I-96-102, 126-27). With respect to Count II, the applicable scoresheet reflects that 40 victim injury points were added for sexual penetration. (I-103).

Petitioner again appealed, arguing in pertinent part: (1) the trial court abused its discretion in finding the child-victim competent to testify, and (2) the trial court erred by including victim injury resultant from a capital felony before the court for sentencing on the scoresheet prepared for a non-capital felony also pending before the court for sentencing. As for Issue I, petitioner argued that (1) on his first appeal the First District reversed his convictions and sentences because the competency examination failed to establish that the child-victim had the "moral sense of the obligation to tell the truth," (2)the questions posed to the child-victim at the competency hearing conducted during his second trial could not be distinguished in any substantive way from the questions posed at the competency hearing conducted during his first trial, and (3) based on the reasoning set forth in Seccia I the First District should again reverse his convictions and sentences and remand for a new trial. First District affirmed petitioner's convictions and The sentences. With respect to Issue I, the First District reasoned:

- 8 -

The child, who was nearly eight years old at the time of the second trial, demonstrated that he knew the difference between the truth and a lie. He also stated that it was wrong to tell a lie, particularly in court, because "something bad" could happen; that one punished when one lies; that one has is an obligation to tell the truth, particularly in court; and that the judge would punish him if he did not tell the truth in court. Finally, he promised to tell the truth. Based upon the child's responses (which were considerably more positive, and less equivocal, than those given during the first trial) to the questions asked, and considering the child's age, we are unable say that the trial court's finding to constituted an abuse of discretion.

<u>Seccia v. State</u>, 23 Fla. L. Weekly D2346, D2346 (Fla. 1st DCA Oct. 12, 1998) (hereinafter "<u>Seccia II</u>"). As for the sentencing issue, the First District stated:

Appellant's third and final argument is the trial court erred when it scored that victim injury points attributable to the guidelines capital sexual battery on the lewd act prepared for the scoresheet The state correctly responds that conviction. this issue has not been preserved for review because it was not raised before the trial court by either a contemporaneous objection or a motion pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.800(b) and, assuming that it is error, it is not fundamental. See, e.q., <u>Williams v. State</u>, 697 So. 2d 164 (Fla. 1st DCA), <u>review denied</u>, 700 So. 2d 689 (Fla. 1997); <u>Neal v. State</u>, 688 So. 2d 392 (Fla. 1st DCA), review denied, 698 So. 2d 543 (Fla. We decline appellant's invitation to 1997). address this issue as one involving ineffective assistance of counsel because to do so would preservation the nullify effectively 924.051, section requirement contained in We do, however, Florida Statutes (1997). certify apparent conflict with the recent decision in <u>Mizell v. State</u>, 23 Fla. L. Weekly D1978 (Fla. 3d DCA Aug. 26, 1998) (correcting a sentencing error which was apparent on the face of the record but had not been preserved on the ground that the failure to preserve the error constituted ineffective assistance of counsel which might be raised on direct appeal).

<u>Id.</u> at D2346-47.

.

Petitioner timely filed a notice to invoke discretionary jurisdiction. This appeal follows.

## III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

**ISSUE I:** Under Florida statutes, victim injury resultant from one or more capital felonies before a court for sentencing is not to be included upon any scoresheet prepared for noncapital felonies. In the case at bar, petitioner was convicted of a capital felony, sexual battery upon a child younger than 12 by placing his mouth upon the child's penis, and a non-capital felony, a lewd act upon the same child. Petitioner's scoresheet on the lewd-act conviction reflects that 40 points were added for sexual penetration. Petitioner's scoresheet is incorrect on its face because it includes victim injury resultant from a capital felony on a scoresheet prepared for a non-capital felony.

Notwithstanding the fact trial counsel failed to lodge a contemporaneous objection, this sentencing error was properly raised on direct appeal as (1) ineffective assistance of trial counsel apparent on the face of the record, and (2) fundamental error -- a sentence which patently fails to comport with statutory limitations. Accordingly, this Court should quash the decision below insofar as it relates to petitioner's sentence on the lewd-act count and remand with appropriate directions.

ISSUE II: On petitioner's first appeal, the First District reversed his convictions and sentences and remanded for a new trial because the competency examination failed to establish that the child-victim had the "moral sense of the obligation to tell the truth." The questions posed to the child-victim at the competency hearing conducted during petitioner's second trial cannot be distinguished in any substantive way from the questions posed at the competency hearing conducted during petitioner's first trial. The child-victim did not demonstrate that he had the moral sense of the obligation to tell the truth at either hearing. Accordingly, based on the reasoning set forth in <u>Seccia</u> <u>I</u>, this Court should quash the First District's decision in <u>Seccia II</u> and remand with appropriate directions.

### IV. ARGUMENT

I. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY INCLUDING VICTIM INJURY RESULTANT A CAPITAL FROM FELONY BEFORE THE FOR COURT SENTENCING ÓŇ THE SCORESHEET PREPARED FOR A NON-CAPITAL FELONY ALSO PENDING BEFORE THE COURT FOR SENTENCING AND WHETHER THIS SENTENCING ERROR WAS PROPERLY RAISED ON DIRECT APPEAL ABSENT A CONTEMPORANEOUS OBJECTION.

Petitioner was convicted of one count of sexual battery upon a child younger than age 12, by placing his mouth upon the child's penis, and one count of handling, fondling or making an assault upon the same child in a lewd, lascivious or indecent manner by touching the child's penis. The trial court sentenced petitioner to life on the capital sexual battery count and to 72 months on the lewd-act count. In sentencing petitioner on the lewd-act count, the trial court relied on a scoresheet reflecting a sentencing range of 45.3 to 75.5 months. (I-103-04). Notwithstanding the fact that petitioner was charged with a lewd act upon a child for touching the child's penis, the scoresheet reflects that 40 points were added for sexual penetration instead of 18 points for sexual contact. (I-103).<sup>2</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Following petitioner's first trial, the trial court sentenced petitioner to 58 months, not 72 months, on each of the lewd-act counts. (I-33-34). The 58 month sentence was based on a scoresheet that reflects 18 points for sexual contact, not 40 points for sexual penetration. (I-37). Petitioner's scoresheet from the first trial also included additional points not assessed against petitioner following his second trial. More specifically, 8.4 points were added for the conviction on a second lewd-act count -- a conviction which the First District subsequently reversed and remanded with directions that the trial court enter a judgment of acquittal as to that count. (I-37,

Capital felonies are not scored under the guidelines.

§ 921.001(4)(b)(2), Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1994). More specifically, capital felonies are not scored as primary offenses, <u>see Anderson</u> <u>v. State</u>, 550 So. 2d 488, 489 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989) and <u>Gray v.</u> <u>State</u>, 640 So. 2d 186, 195 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994), or as additional offenses. <u>Norris v. State</u>, 503 So. 2d 911, 912 (Fla. 5th DCA 1987). It only follows that victim injury resultant from a capital felony before the court for sentencing should not be scored on the scoresheet prepared for a non-capital felony also pending before the court for sentencing.

Such a conclusion is buttressed by section 921.0011(7), Florida Statutes (Supp. 1994), which provides: "If the conviction [read: "which is scored"] is for an offense involving sexual contact which does not include sexual penetration, the sexual contact must be scored as moderate injury."<sup>3</sup> Excluding prior record, the only conviction scored on petitioner's scoresheet was

<sup>58).</sup> If the trial court had not erroneously added points for sexual penetration following petitioner's second trial, petitioner's sentencing range would have been 28.8 months to 48 months -- well below the 72 months actually imposed by the trial court.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Petitioner was charged with committing the offenses at issue "on or between the 1st day of August, 1995, and the 12th day of September, 1995." (I-4). Under the applicable statute, 18 points could be assessed for moderate injury and 40 points for severe injury. <u>See</u> § 921.0014(1), Fla. Stat. (1993). Section 921.0014 was subsequently amended to score 80 points for sexual penetration and 40 points for sexual contact. § 921.0014(1), Fla. Stat. (1995). The 1995 amendments to section 921.0014, apply to "offenses committed on or after October 1, 1995." <u>See</u> Ch. 95-184, § 6, at 1694, Laws of Fla.

the lewd-act conviction. (I-103). Petitioner was charged with lewd act upon a child by touching the child's penis -- an offense involving sexual contact which does not include sexual penetration.<sup>4</sup> Under section 921.0011, the sexual contact should have been scored as moderate injury -- 18 points as opposed to 40 points for sexual penetration.

This Court amended the Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure recognizing that such is the appropriate reading of the sentencing statutes:

Victim injury resultant from one or more capital felonies before the court for sentencing is not to be included upon any scoresheet prepared for non-capital felonies also pending before the court for sentencing.

Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.703(d)(9).<sup>5</sup> In short, petitioner's scoresheet

<sup>5</sup> This version of Rule 3.703, "applies to offenses committed on or after October 1, 1995." <u>See</u> Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.703(a). However, as this Court has recognized, this version of Rule 3.703 was adopted "to implement statutory revisions made during the 1995 legislative session." <u>Amendments to Florida Rules of</u> <u>Criminal Procedure re Sentencing Guidelines</u>, 660 So. 2d 1374, 1374 (Fla. 1995). None of the revisions made during the 1995 legislative session, save the revision noted in footnote three, relate to assessment of victim injury points. <u>See</u> Ch. 95-184, § 6, at 1678-79, Laws of Fla. That is, this version of Rule 3.703 implements the exact statutory language upon which petitioner relies for the proposition that the victim injury resultant from a capital felony before the court for sentencing should not be scored on the scoresheet prepared for a non-capital felony also pending before the court for sentencing.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> It bears noting that "one cannot be convicted of a lewd and lascivious act committed upon a child under 12 years of age for conduct that also constitutes the crime of sexual battery." <u>Jozens v. State</u>, 649 So. 2d 322, 323 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995). That is, by definition, petitioner's lewd-act conviction could not have been based on sexual contact involving sexual penetration.

is incorrect on its face as a matter of law.

The only rub is whether petitioner properly raised this issue absent a contemporaneous objection. (I-123-32). The First District held that

Appellant's third and final argument is that the trial court erred when it scored victim injury points attributable to the capital sexual battery on the guidelines for the lewd act scoresheet prepared The state correctly responds that conviction. this issue has not been preserved for review because it was not raised before the trial court by either a contemporaneous objection or a motion pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.800(b) and, assuming that it is error, it is not fundamental. See, e.g., <u>Williams v. State</u>, 697 So. 2d 164 (Fla. 1st DCA), <u>review denied</u>, 700 So. 2d 689 (Fla. 1997); <u>Neal v. State</u>, 688 So. 2d 392 (Fla. 1st DCA), <u>review denied</u>, 698 So. 2d 543 (Fla. 1997). We decline appellant's invitation to address this issue as one involving ineffective assistance of counsel because to do so would preservation nullify the effectively requirement contained in section 924.051, Florida Statutes (1997). We do, however, certify apparent conflict with the recent decision in Mizell v. State, 23 Fla. L. Weekly D1978 (Fla. 3d DCA Aug. 26, 1998) (correcting a sentencing error which was apparent on the face of the record but had not been preserved on the ground that the failure to preserve the error constituted ineffective assistance of counsel which might be raised on direct appeal).

<u>Seccia II</u>, 23 Fla. L. Weekly at D2346-47. In so holding, the First District erred.

It is a fundamental principle of constitutional law that a criminal defendant is entitled to the effective assistance of trial counsel. Amend. VI, U.S. Const.; Art. I, § 16, Fla. Const. Petitioner readily concedes that, "[g]enerally, ineffective

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