## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

SID J. WHITE

DEC 3 1998 (

CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By
Shief Beputy Olerk

CASE NO. 94,138

RICHARD SECCIA,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

# RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JAMES W. ROGERS
TALLAHASSEE BUREAU CHIEF,
CRIMINAL APPEALS
FLORIDA BAR NO. 325791

SMERRI TOLAR ROLLISON ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 128635

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 Ext. 4576

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

#

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

The State reiterates that the facts of this case overwhelming illustrate why this Court should not nullify the requirement for preservation of issues set out in statutes, rules, and case law by permitting unpreserved issues to be litigated under the subterfuge of ineffective assistance of counsel. Accordingly, the order of the First District court should be affirmed and the Decision by the Third District Court in <u>Mizell</u> reversed.

## ISSUE II:

Defendant claims that the First District Court failed to address the issue presented in its holding that the trial court did not abuse its discretion by finding that the child victim had the moral sense of the obligation to tell the truth. The defendant's claim must fail for several reasons.

First, it is well established practice for this Court to decline to address issues which are not within the scope of the certified conflict or certified question for which the court has granted jurisdiction. The issue of the child's competency is not within the scope of the certified conflict nor is it even remotely related. For this reason the State requests this Court to decline addressing the issue.

Second, even if the court deems it proper to address this issue, the defendant's claim is erroneous and therefore, must fail.

Defendant contends that the First District Court did not squarely address the issue presented. However, the record reveals defendant's claim is groundless. Defendant's stated issue in his initial brief filed in the First District Court reads as follows:

ISSUE I: The competency examination conducted during appellants second trial failed to establish that Samuel had the moral sense of the obligation to tell the truth and thus appellant's convictions and sentences must be reversed and the case remanded for a new trial.

Llovd v. State, 524 So. 2d 396, 400 (Fla. 1988) held that it is

"within the discretion of the trial judge to decide whether an infant of tender years has sufficient mental capacity and sense of moral obligation to be competent as a witness. Except when there is an abuse of that discretion, the trial court's decision will not be disturbed."

(IB-10). The First District Court in following the proper standard of review held:

The child, who was nearly eight years old at the time of the second trial, demonstrated that he knew the difference between the truth and a lie. He also stated that it was wrong to tell a lie, particularly in court, because "something bad" could happen; that one is punished when one lies; that one has an obligation to tell the truth, particularly in court; and that the judge would punish him if he did not tell the truth in court. Finally, he promised to tell the truth. Based upon the child's responses (which were considerably more positive, and less equivocal, than those given during the first trial) to the questions asked, and considering the child's age, we are unable to say that the trial court's finding constituted an abuse of discretion. See Baker v. State, 674 So.2d 199 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996) (the trial court did not abuse its discretion in finding that a 6-year-old child was competent based upon the child's testimony that she knew that it was wrong to lie, that one gets into trouble for lying, and that she would tell the truth).

<u>Seccia V State</u>, 23 Fla. L. Weekly D2346 (Fla. 1st DCA October 12, 1998). Clearly, the District Court ruled on the issue presented.

Third, if this court determines that the First District Court did not address the issue presented, the State reasserts the argument made below that the trial court had sufficient facts on which to base its order of competency and that defendant has failed to show that the trial court abused its discretion.

Moreover, it is clear that the sense of "moral obligation" to tell the truth cannot constitutionally require a belief in the supernatural or other religious belief. "Moral obligation" simply means a sense that the truth **should be** told, regardless of the witness's motivation for that feeling. Of paramount importance, therefore, is that when the witness testifies there has been a sufficient showing of a desire to tell the truth: The witness knows the difference between the truth and a lie and wants to tell the truth.

Here, S.H. provided the requisite assurance that he was motivated to tell the truth. Any imperfections in S.H.'s proffered and subsequent testimony went to "witness's credibility, for the trier-of-fact to consider," Terry v. State, 668 So.2d 954, 962 n. 9 (Fla. 1996). Accordingly, because the defendant has failed to show that the District Court improperly addressed the issue or that the trial court abused its discretion, the holding of the First District Court that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in finding the child victim competent to testify should be affirmed.

## **ARGUMENT**

#### ISSUE I

IS AN INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL CLAIM ADDRESSABLE ON DIRECT APPEAL WHERE THE ALLEGED ERROR IS NOT FUNDAMENTAL? (RESTATED).

Defendant claims that his ineffective-assistance-of-counsel claim, based on the allegation that defense counsel failed to object during the sentencing phase when victim injury points where included on the guidelines score sheet prepared for the lewd act conviction, should be addressable on direct appeal. The State adamently disagrees.

As stated in the court below, to address the ineffective assistance of counsel claim on direct appeal "would effectively nullify the preservation requirement contained in section 924.051, Florida Statutes (1997). Seccia V State, 23 Fla. L. Weekly D2346 (Fla. 1st DCA October 12, 1998).

It is well settled law that an ineffective assistance of counsel claim cannot be raised on direct appeal. See, e.g., Consalvo v. State, 697 So.2d 805, 811 n. 4 (Fla. 1996) ("As for appellant's ineffective assistance of counsel claim, it is not reviewable on direct appeal and is more properly raised in a motion for post-conviction relief") revised on other grounds Oct. 3, 1997; Lawrence v. State, 691 So.2d 1068 (Fla. 1997), Wuornos v. State, 676 So.2d 972, 974 (Fla. 1996) ("argument constitutes a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel not cognizable on direct appeal, but only by collateral challenge"). See Also, McKinney v. State, 579 So.2d 80, 82 (Fla. 1991); Kelley v. State, 486 So.2d 578, 585

(Fla. 1986), cert. denied, 479 U.S. 871, 107 S.Ct. 244, 93 L.Ed.2d 169 (1986); Gibson v. State, 351 So.2d 948, 950 (Fla. 1977), cert. denied, 435 U.S. 1004, 98 S.Ct. 1660, 56 L.Ed.2d 93 (1978). The Second District in Dennis v. State, 696 So.2d 1280 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997), summarized the law and the rationale behind it:

The general rule is that the adequacy of a lawyer's representation may not be raised for the first time on a direct appeal. The rationale for the rule is that issue has not been raised or ruled on by the trial court. State v. Barber, 301 So.2d 7, 9 (Fla. 1974). An appellate court must confine itself to a review of only those questions which were before the trial court and upon which a ruling adverse to the appealing party was made. Id.

The case law basis for the rule has been reinforced by the passage of section 924.051, Florida Statutes (Supp. 1996). Section 924.051(2) provides that the right to direct appeal "may only be implemented in strict accordance with the terms and conditions" of section 924.051. Section 924.051(3) provides that

[a]n appeal may not be taken from a judgment or order of a trial court unless a prejudicial error is alleged and is properly preserved or, if not properly preserved, would constitute fundamental error.

An issue is not "preserved" within the meaning of the statute unless it was "timely raised before, and ruled on by, the trial court." § 924.051(1)(b), Fla. Stat. (Supp.1996).

Under both the statute and case law, the proper procedural vehicle for an ineffective assistance of counsel claim is a motion for post-conviction relief under Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850. Rule 3.850 procedures allow for full development of the issue of counsel's incompetence under the standards of <a href="Downs v.State">Downs v.State</a>, 453 So.2d 1102 (Fla.1984) and <a href="Strickland v. Washington">Strickland v. Washington</a>, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984). When a motion for postconviction relief is first raised in the trial court, trial counsel and the state have a full opportunity to refute the claim that the representation of a defendant amounted to a constitutional violation. See <a href="Williams v. State">Williams v. State</a>, 438 So.2d 781, 787 (Fla.1983), <a href="cert.denied">Cert. denied</a>, 465 U.S. 1109, 104 S.Ct. 1617, 80 L.Ed. 2d 146 (1984).

Id. at 1282. The <u>Dennis</u> court, expounding on the difficulty of addressing an ineffective assistance claim on direct appeal,

signified that the record does not contain counsel's thinking concerning their action or lack of action.

The First District in Loren v. State, 601 So.2d 271,272-273, (Fla. 1st DCA 1992), held that the reason for requiring an ineffective assistance claim to be raised in a motion for postconviction relief rather than on direct appeal is that

[T]he trial court never had the opportunity to consider the issue below and the issue often involves collateral questions of fact that cannot be determined by the trial record.

Id. at 272. See also, Johnson v. State, 697 So.2d 1245 (Fla. 1st DCA 1997) (alleged sentencing error unpreserved and not fundamental); Middleton v. State, 689 So.2d 304, 305 (Fla. 1st DCA 1997) ("The statute on its face does not make exception for sentencing errors apparent on the face of the record."); Neal v. State, 688 So.2d 392, 396 (Fla. 1st DCA 1997) (claim that sentence constituted upward departure from guidelines; "Any error in appellant's sentence might easily have been corrected, thereby avoiding expenditure of the time and money associated with this appeal"; "Because he failed to do so, his complaint about his sentence has not been preserved for appellate review"; "error would not be 'fundamental'"; sentence affirmed);

Thus, defendant's request for direct-appeal review of an ineffective-assistance-of-counsel claim fails to allow the trial court to rule on it, for example, to determine whether there was, in fact prejudice, or whether, in fact, defense counsel had a tactical reason for not challenging the score sheet, or whether, any reasonable lawyer would have acted this way.

Defendant should not be allowed to nullify through claimed ineffective assistance of counsel what is now well-established and well-reasoned precedent requiring a score sheet claim to be first presented to the trial court. This Court should not negate the requirement for preservation of issues set out in statutes, rules, and case law by permitting unpreserved issues to be litigated under the subterfuge of ineffective assistance of counsel. Moreover, because of various abuses of the judicial system, which had arisen primarily from exceptions to the rule that claims of error were not cognizable on appeal unless first raised in the trial court, both this Court and the Florida Legislature undertook corrective action. See, Amendments to Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure 9.020(g) and 9.140(b) and Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.800, 21 Fla. L. Weekly S5 (Fla. 21 December 1995) ("It has come to our attention that scarce resources are being unnecessarily expended in appeals from guilty pleas and appeals relating to sentencing error."). These concerns, and remedies, were subsequently addressed in the Criminal Appeal Reform Act of 1996, codified as chapter 924, Florida Statutes (Supp 1996), as approved and implemented by this Court in Amendments to Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure, 685 So.2d 773 (Fla. 1996) and Amendments to Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, 685 So.2d 1253 (Fla. 1996). See, also, Kalway v. Singletary, 708 So.2d 267 (Fla 1998) where this Court rejected a separation of powers challenge to the Reform Act and reiterated its approval of the legislature's adoption of terms and conditions of appeal set out in the Reform Act: "[W]e believe that the

legislature may implement this constitutional right [to appeal] and place reasonable conditions up on it so long as [it does] not thwart the litigant's legitimate appellate rights. Of course, this Court continues to have jurisdiction over the practice and procedure relating to appeals."

The State suggests that there is not, and cannot be, a legitimate constitutional right to forego the preservation of claimed errors in the trial court and to raise such claims for the first time on appeal. That is particularly true when, in fact, the statute and implementing rules provide ready remedies for every legitimate claim of error to be first raised in the trial court either contemporaneously, by post-sentencing motion, or by post-conviction motion.

The seminal significance of the Reform Act and the implementing rules of this Court was recognized by the Fifth District Court of Appeals in an en banc decision, Maddox. Because that decision and opinion by Chief Judge Griffin so clearly analyzes all the relevant factors, the State quotes portions of it at length and adopts the reasoning as its own.

In a direct appeal from a conviction or sentence in a nonplea case, the Criminal Appeal Reform Act permits review of only those errors which are (1) fundamental or (2) have been preserved for review. \$924.051(3), Fla. Stat. The word "preserved," as used in the statute, means that the issue has been presented to, and ruled on by the trial court. \$924.051(1)(a), Fla. Stat.

Recognizing that, in the sentencing arena, the new legislation would preclude the appeal of many sentencing errors which formerly were routinely corrected on direct appeal (such as nonfundamental sentencing errors apparent on the fact of the record) (FN5) (omitted) the supreme court set about creating a method for the criminal defendant to obtain relief from sentencing errors not preserved at the time of sentencing. In essence, the court created a sort of

post-hoc device for preserving such sentencing error for appeal. Fla. R.Crim.P. 3.800(b). Any error not complained of at the time of sentence could be complained of in the trial court after sentencing, if done in accordance with the new rule. Thus, at approximately the same time section 924.051 became effective, the Florida Supreme Court, by emergency amendment to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.800, permitted the filing of a motion to correct a sentence entered by the trial court, provided the motion was filed with ten days (now thirty) of the date of rendition of See, Amendments to Florida Rule of Appellate sentence. Procedure 9.020(g) and Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.800, 675 So.2d 1374 (Fla.1996). Only then, if not corrected by the trial court, could it be raised on appeal because it had been "preserved." Although rule 3.800 by its terms traditionally had been limited to illegal sentences, subsection (b) of the rule, as amended, more broadly applies to any sentencing error. 675 so.2d at 1375. (FN6) (omitted). The rule 3.800(a) procedure remains available to correct an illegal sentence at any time.

The net effect of the statute and the amended rules is that no sentencing error can be considered in a direct appeal unless the error has been "preserved" for review, i.e., the error has been presented to and ruled on by the trial court. This is true regardless of whether the error is apparent on the face of the record. And it applies across the board to defendants who plead and to those who go to trial. As for the "fundamental error" exception, it now appears clear, given the recent rule amendments, that "fundamental error" no longer exists in the sentencing context. The supreme court has recently distinguished sentencing error from trial error, and has found fundamental error only in the latter context. Summers v. State, 684 So.2d 729 (Fla. 1996) ("The trial court's failure to comply with the statutory mandate is a sentencing error, not fundamental error, which must be raised on direct appeal or it is waived."); Archer v. State, 673 So.2d 17, 20 (Fla.) ("Fundamental error is 'error which reaches down into the validity of the trial itself to the extent that a verdict of quilty could not have been obtained without the assistance of the alleged error.'"), cert. denied, U.S. , 117 S.Ct. 197, 136 L.Ed.2d 134 (1996). It appears that the supreme court has concluded that the notion of "fundamental error" should be limited to trial errors, not sentencing errors. The high court could have adopted a rule that paralleled the Criminal Appeal Reform Act, which would allow for review of fundamental errors in nonplea cases, but the court did not do so and made clear in its recent amendment to rule 9.140 that unpreserved sentencing errors cannot be raised on appeal. (Emphasis by State).

Maddox, 708 So.2d 618-620.

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